MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE EXECUTIVE AND COMPENSATION COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE UNIVERSITY OF LOUISVILLE

March 21, 2024

In Open Session

Members of the Executive and Compensation Committee of the University of Louisville Board of Trustees met on March 21, 2024, at 2:09 p.m., in the Jefferson Room, Grawemeyer Hall, Belknap Campus, with members present and absent as follows:

Present:	Ms. Mary Nixon, Chair
	Ms. Diane Medley
	Dr. Larry Benz
	Dr. Eugene Mueller

Absent: Ms. Diane Porter

Other Trustees

Present: Mr. Jerry Abramson Dr. Raymond Burse Mr. Al Cornish Ms. Katie Hayden Mr. Brian Lavin Mr. Kevin Ledford Mr. Jim Rogers Ms. Sherrill Zimmerman

From the

University: Dr. Kim Schatzel, President Dr. Gerry Bradley, Executive Vice President and University Provost Mr. Dan Durbin, Executive Vice President for Finance & Administration & CFO Ms. Angela Curry, General Counsel & VP Governance & Strategic Initiatives Dr. Michael Mardis, Vice President for Student Affairs, Dean of Students Ms. Sandy Russell, Vice President for Risk, Audit, and Compliance Mr. John Drees, Vice President for Communications & Marketing Mr. Lee Gill, Vice President for Institutional Equity Ms. Julie Dials, Interim Vice President for University Advancement Dr. Jeff Bumpous, Interim Vice President for Academic Medical Affairs Dr. Gail DePuy, Senior Vice Provost Mr. Bob Goldstein, Vice Provost, Assessment & Decision Support/Analytics Mr. Jim Begany, Vice Provost for Strategic Enrollment Management Dr. Thomas Hardy, Executive Director of University Housing Ms. Jill Mullaney, Interim Executive Director Business Operations Mr. Jerry Johnson, Chief of Staff to the CFO Ms. Michelle Comer, Treasurer Ms. Julia Colins, Director of Budget and Financial Planning

Ms. Sarah Lopez, Chief of Staff to the Provost Mr. John Karman, Executive Director of Communications Dr. Randy Whetstone, Asst. Prof. & Prog. Dir. for Org. Leadership and Learning Mr. Chris Wooton, Associate Director of Communications and Marketing Ms. Kaelah McMonigle, Exec. Asst., VP for Governance & Strategic Initiatives Mr. Jake Beamer, Dir. of Governance & Strategic Initiatives & Asst. Secretary

I. <u>Call to Order</u>

Chair Nixon called the roll and having determined a quorum present, called the meeting to order at 2:09 p.m.

Consent Agenda

The Chair read the Consent Agenda as follows:

- Approval of Minutes, 12-14-2023
- From the Finance Committee, 3-21-2024
 - Exemption from Quasi-Endowment Policy
- From the Academic & Student Affairs Committee, 3-21-2024
 - Naming of Atrium in New Speed School Building
 - Undergraduate Certificate in Climate, Equity, an Opportunity in the Workplace
 - Personnel Matters

Dr. Benz made a motion, which Dr. Mueller seconded, to approve the Consent Agenda as listed.

The motion passed.

II. <u>Governance Matters</u>

Chair Nixon stated that the Faculty Senate shared with Dr. Mueller its concerns regarding the presidential search process as described in The Redbook. The concerns led to the passing of a Faculty Senate resolution requesting that the board of trustees revise that section of The Redbook.

The Chair then requested that the Governance, Trusteeship, and Nominating Committee to address the appeal. No action was taken.

III. Action Item: Kentucky Kingdom Master Lease

Vice Presidents Curry and Mardis briefed the committee on the recommendation to approve a lease agreement with Kentucky Kingdom to allow its summer employees to sublease housing in Bettie Johnson Hall. Dr. Mardis noted that this is a long-term partnership that benefits both UofL and KY Kingdom. Ms. Medley made a motion, which Dr. Mueller seconded, to approve the

President's recommendation that the Board of Trustees approve a Master Lease Agreement with Kentucky Kingdom Theme Park, LLC, as attached pursuant to the Board's Financial Transactions Policy, Section II(d), regarding lease transactions in excess of \$250,000.00.

The motion passed.

IV. Executive Session

Dr. Benz made a motion, which Ms. Medley seconded, to recess to executive session to discuss proposed or pending litigation and personnel matters pursuant to KRS 61.810(1)(c) and (f). The motion passed and the open meeting recessed at 2:14 p.m.

V. Open Meeting Reconvenes

The open meeting reconvened at 3:55 p.m. Chair Nixon reported that the committee discussed proposed or pending litigation and personnel matters.

No action was taken.

VI. Adjournment

Having no other business to come before the committee, Ms. Medley made a motion, which Dr. Benz seconded, to adjourn.

The motion passed and the meeting adjourned at 3:56 p.m.

Approved by:

Signature on file Assistant Secretary

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE EXECUTIVE AND COMPENSATION COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE UNIVERSITY OF LOUISVILLE

March 21, 2024

In Executive Session

Present:	Ms. Mary Nixon, Chair
	Ms. Diane Medley
	Dr. Larry Benz
	Dr. Eugene Mueller

Other Trustees

Present:	Mr. Jerry Abramson	Mr. Brian Lavin
	Dr. Raymond Burse	Mr. Kevin Ledford
	Mr. Al Cornish	Mr. Jim Rogers
	Ms. Katie Hayden	Ms. Sherrill Zimmerman

From the

University: Dr. Kim Schatzel, President Ms. Angela Curry, General Counsel & VP Governance & Strategic Initiatives Ms. Kaelah McMonigle, Exec. Asst., VP for Governance & Strategic Initiatives Mr. Jake Beamer, Dir. of Governance & Strategic Initiatives & Asst. Secretary

I. <u>Call to Order</u>

Chair Nixon called the executive session to order at 2:114 p.m.

II. <u>Personnel Matters</u>

The president and vice president discussed with trustees personnel matters.

III. Proposed or Pending Litigation

Vice President Curry briefed trustees on proposed or pending litigation.

IV. Adjournment

Dr. Benz made a motion, which Dr. Mueller seconded, to adjourn the executive session. The motion passed and session adjourned at 3:54 p.m.

Approved by:

Signature on file Assistant Secretary

RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES CONCERNING AN EXEMPTION FOR THE WILLIAM CARNER QUASI-ENDOWED FUND TO BE USED BY UNIVERSITY LIBRARIES

Finance Committee – March 21, 2024 Executive and Compensation Committee – March 21, 2024

RECOMMENDATION:

The President recommends that the Board of Trustees approve a request for an exemption to the UofL Foundation, Inc., board policy on quasi-endowed funds to allow for the funds from the William Carner estate to be used for current use purposes.

BACKGROUND:

In March 2001, the ULF Board passed a policy that requires the endowment of all testamentary gifts of \$100,000 or greater received without a clear preference from the donor making them available for current use. In limited circumstances, exceptions to the policy are allowed, provided all appropriate approvals have been received.

The Photographic Archives housed within University Libraries seeks to use the funds from the exempted William Carner gift to process two major collections: the William Carner collection itself and the John Ranard collection. These are significant collections that were received in a state of relative disarray. They must be arranged, described, and rehoused before they can be made available to the researchers, including our students and faculty.

Given the state of the materials, this work must be completed by an individual with archival training at the graduate level. The work is more complex than can be accomplished by a student worker and existing qualified staff are already over-extended. Further, the proceeds of an endowment simply would not be sufficient to cover the expense of hiring qualified personnel. Applying the exempted Carner gift to current use would enable the Library to make these collections available for use, rather than keeping them warehoused.

See attached memorandum for more detailed information.

Upon approval by the Board of Trustees, the request will be made to the UofL Foundation Board of Directors.

COMMITTE	E ACTION:
Passed	X
Did Not Pass	
Other	

Signature on file_____Assistant Secretary

BOARD ACT	'ION:
Passed	X
Did Not Pass	
Other	

Signature on file	
Assistant Secretary	

UNIVERSITY OF

BOARD OF TRUSTEE ACTION REQUEST FROM UNIVERSITY ADVANCEMENT:

1) Approval for an exemption from the ULF policy on quasi-endowed funds to allow for the funds from the William Carner estate to be used for current use purposes.

Background

In March 2001, the ULF Board passed a policy that requires the endowment of all testamentary gifts of \$100,000 or greater received without a clear preference from the donor making them available for current use. In limited circumstances, exceptions to the policy are allowed, provided all appropriate approvals have been received.

Request

The Photographic Archives seeks to use the funds from the William Carner gift to process two major collections: the William Carner collection itself and the John Ranard collection. These collections total 205 linear feet. These are significant collections that were received in a state of relative disarray. They must be arranged, described, and rehoused before they can be made available to the researchers, including our students and faculty.

Given the state of the materials, this work must be completed by an individual with archival training at the graduate level. The work is more complex than can be accomplished by a student worker and our existing qualified staff are already over-extended. Further, the proceeds of an endowment simply would not be sufficient to cover the expense of hiring qualified personnel. Applying the Carner gift to current use would enable us to make these collections available for use, rather than keeping them warehoused in our backlog.

Therefore, our hope is to use the Carner bequest to hire a temporary archivist to process these two collections. Experience with similar materials (e.g., the Julius Friedman collection) argues for the employment of a professional archivist at the level of an instructor or assistant professor. This experience also indicates that collections received in this state can be processed at a rate of approximately 0.5 linear foot per day. Taking into account vacation time and winter recess, it will take two years to fully process these materials.

Approvals Needed

<u>Attached</u> is a memo from Bob Fox, Dean of University Libraries with the full request including budget. Per the ULF policy for these exemptions, the request has been approved by Dan Durbin, Executive VP for Finance and Administration and Kim Schatzel, President. Following approval of the Board of Trustees, the final approval will move to the ULF Board.



MEMORANDUM

February 1, 2024

To: Kim Schatzel, President; Dan Durbin, Executive Vice President for Finance and Administration

From: Robert Fox, Dean of University Libraries

- Cc: Brent Pieper, Vice President for University Advancement
- Re: Request for Exemption from ULF Policy on Quasi-Endowments for Bill Carner Bequest

The Photographic Archives seeks to use the funds from the William Carner gift to process two major collections: the William Carner collection itself and the John Ranard collection. These collections total 205 linear feet. These are significant collections that were received in a state of relative disarray. They must be arranged, described, and rehoused before they can be made available to the researchers, including our students and faculty.

Given the state of the materials, this work must be completed by an individual with archival training at the graduate level. The work is more complex than can be accomplished by a student worker and our existing qualified staff are already over-extended. Further, the proceeds of an endowment simply would not be sufficient to cover the expense of hiring qualified personnel. Applying the Carner gift to current use would enable us to make these collections available for use, rather than keeping them warehoused in our backlog.

Therefore, our hope is to use the Carner bequest to hire a temporary archivist to process these two collections. Experience with similar materials (e.g., the Julius Friedman collection) argues for the employment of a professional archivist at the level of an instructor or assistant professor. This experience also indicates that collections received in this state can be processed at a rate of approximately 0.5 linear foot per day. Taking into account vacation time and winter recess, it will take two years to fully process these materials.

<u>Budget</u> :	
Year 1: Minimum salary, instructor:	\$ 50,000
Benefits (25%)	\$ 12,500
Year 2: Instructor salary + 2%:	\$ 51,000
Benefits (25%)	\$ 12,750
Relocation expenses:	\$ 2,000
Professional development	¢ 2.000
support (\$1000/year)	\$ 2 <i>,</i> 000
Total:	\$130,250



<u>Timeline</u>: May 1, 2024: Following Board of Trustees approval, initiate search to fill faculty position January 1, 2025: Archivist (Term) appointment begins December 31, 2026: Archivist (Term) appointment ends

Approved by:

_Signature on file _____ Dan Durbin Executive VP for Finance and Administration

_Signature on file Kim Schatzel, PhD President, University of Louisville

RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE UNIVERSITY OF LOUISVILLE CONCERNING THE DESIGNATION OF THE ATRIUM IN THE NEW SPEED SCHOOL BUILDING

Academic & Student Affairs Committee – March 21, 2024 Executive and Compensation Committee – March 21, 2024

RECOMMENDATION:

The President recommends that the Board of Trustees approve the naming of the atrium in the new Speed School of Engineering building as the "Frank and Martha Diebold Atrium."

BACKGROUND:

In recognition of a \$2 million gift, the Speed School requests to name the atrium of the new building in honor of Frank and Martha Diebold. The atrium is a two-story central space with visibility of high impact programs.

Frank Diebold is a 1973 graduate of the Speed School of Engineering, with his Master of Engineering. He is the retired Secretary & Treasurer, Fabricated Metals, LLC. Martha is the founder of Socially Innovative Properties and on the Board of Directors of ChooseWell Communities. The Diebolds have been long-time, loyal major donors.

See additional information, as attached.

COMMITTEE ACTION:
Passed X
Did Not Pass
Other
Signature on file
Assistant Secretary

BOARD ACTION:
Passed X
Did Not Pass
Other
Signature on file
Assistant Secretary

UNIVERSITY OF

BOARD OF TRUSTEE ACTION REQUESTS FROM UNIVERSITY ADVANCEMENT:

1) Approval to name the atrium in the new Speed School of Engineering building the "Frank and Martha Diebold Atrium," per the guidelines of the UofL Naming Policy.

Name: Frank and Martha Diebold Atrium In support of: J.B. Speed School of Engineering Amount: \$2,000,000 TOTAL

Gift Information: The Speed School requests to name the atrium of the new building in honor of Frank and Martha Diebold. The atrium is a two-story central space with visibility of high impact programs.

Fund Purpose:

Founded in 1925, the J.B. Speed School of Engineering has reached a point where their growth has surpassed the existing capacity. Currently, the school occupies space in eight buildings, accommodating a dedicated team of over 230 faculty and staff members. With an enrollment of over 2,700 undergraduate and graduate students, the classrooms and laboratories face limitations in space availability. Moreover, the lack of designated student interaction and study areas further compounds these challenges. The 114,000 sq. ft building will have four stories and feature several unique elements including the atrium.



LEVEL 1

Donor Information:

Frank Diebold is a 1973 graduate of the Speed School of Engineering, with his Master of Engineering. He is the retired Secretary & Treasurer, Fabricated Metals, LLC. Martha is the founder of Socially Innovative Properties and on the Board of Directors of ChooseWell Communities. The Diebolds have been long-time, loyal major donors, despite the many challenges at UofL.

Approvals Needed:

Per the UofL Naming Policy, this naming was approved on 2/14/24 by the UofL Naming Committee. Additionally, per the policy, BOT approval will constitute final approval of the naming.

EXPENDABLE/CURRENT USE



Charitable Gift Agreement

This Charitable Gift Agreement is entered into by and between Frank and Martha Diebold (herein referred to as "Donor"), and the University of Louisville Foundation, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as "Foundation").

The Donor made an irrevocable gift to the Foundation for the benefit of the University of Louisville in accordance with the following terms:

The Donor contributed a total gift of \$2,000,000 to support the J.B. Speed School of Engineering New Building Project, Gift Account #G3673. The Donation was made in three installments from the Donor's Donor Advised Fund ("DAF") held by Fidelity Charitable Gift Fund as outlined below:

\$900,000 on December 18, 2023

\$200,000 on December 19, 2023

\$900,000 on December 20, 2023

In recognition of the generous gift from Frank and Martha Diebold the Atrium inside the new J.B. Speed School of Engineering Building will be named in honor of Frank and Martha. This gift shall be in accordance with the University Naming Policy in effect at the time of the actual naming.

- 1. Additional contributions by the Donor and others to the Gift Account can be made at any time, all subject to the provisions hereof.
- 2. The parties agree and it is the intention of the Donor and the Foundation that the terms of this Agreement are a binding obligation upon the donor and the Foundation.

- 3. This agreement may not be amended, modified, or supplemented except by written amendment signed by both parties. Individuals and entities who make additional gifts to the Gift Account, but are not signers to this agreement shall be notified of the change and be given the opportunity to consent to the change or direct their donation be transferred to another account that more closely meets their original intent.
- 4. This agreement sets forth the final and complete agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. It supersedes all prior discussions, representations, and agreements, whether oral or written, express or implied, between the parties relating to the matters contemplated herein. Signatures by the parties electronically transmitted shall be deemed to be original signatures for all purposes.

By: DocuSigned by:	
Signature on file	1/19/2024 08:24 PST
8013E35F7E8C440	
Frank Diebold	Date
By:	
Signature on file	1/20/2024 09:23 EST
E7D4A88AF0A4441	
Martha Diebold	Date
By: The University of Louisville Foundation	
Signature on file	1/23/2024 05:32 PST
Keith M. Sherman Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer	Date



For the Benefit Of:

The University of Louisville

By: Signature on file	1/22/2024 15:06 PST
Kim Schatzel, PhD President	Date
Recommend for Approval By:	
Signature on file	1/21/2024 15:41 PST
Emmanuel Collins, PhD Dean, J.B. Speed School of Engineering	Date

RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES CONCERNING THE CREATION OF THE UNDERGRADUATE CERTIFICATE IN CLIMATE, EQUITY, AND OPPORTUNITY IN THE WORKPLACE

Academic and Student Affairs Committee – March 21, 2024 Executive and Compensation Committee – March 21, 2024

RECOMMENDATION:

The President recommends that the Board of Trustees approve the creation of the Climate, Equity, and Opportunity in the Workplace (CEOW) Undergraduate Certificate, effective Fall 2024.

BACKGROUND:

The College of Education and Human Development proposes a Climate, Equity, and Opportunity in the Workplace (CEOW) Undergraduate Certificate to begin enrolling students in Fall 2024. The proposed program will be offered online and require 12 credit hours. The budget impact is \$15,090.

The purpose of the CEOW Certificate program is to prepare leaders working in a multitude of fields (e.g., military, corporate, non-profit, healthcare, government, private sector, etc.) to implement best practices and strategies around diverse hiring, inclusive workplace environments, effectively engaging with marginalized communities through meaningful organizational partnerships, and equitable treatment among all employees in the workplace.

The audience for this certificate is individuals working in leadership roles, especially those with some college but who have not earned a college degree. This program is also appropriate for those who have already finished a degree and are in the workforce but recognize that they do not have enough training in this area. The certificate would fill a needed gap of professionals who desire to create and sustain a workplace environment that reflects the changing societal demographics and who want to ensure CEOW. The workplace is challenged to address matters of injustice, fairness, equality and equity, prejudice, discrimination, and cultural acceptance. The proposed certificate will allow students to study and explore the existing problems associated with the aforementioned areas. Students will explore policy, complete organizational analysis, and engage with marginalized communities through assignments to form a solid knowledge base towards practical application.

The Faculty Senate recommended the creation of the Climate, Equity, and Opportunity in the Workplace Undergraduate Certificate at their meeting on December 6, 2023. The Executive Vice President and University Provost joins the President in making this recommendation.

COMMITTEE ACTION:	
Passed X	
Did Not Pass	
Other	
$\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{D}}$	
Signature on file	
Assistant Secretary	

BOARD ACTION:
Passed X
Did Not Pass
Other
Signature on file

RECOMMENDATION TO BOARD OF TRUSTEES REGARDING PERSONNEL MATTERS

Academic and Student Affairs Committee – March 21, 2024 Executive and Compensation Committee – March 21, 2024

RECOMMENDATION:

The President recommends that the following personnel actions be approved by the Board of Trustees:

Arts and Sciences

Anirvan Chowdhury, PhD, Assistant Professor (Probationary) of Political Science; additional appointment as the Endowed Chair of Asian Democracy, August 1, 2024 through July 31, 2029.

Notable Accomplishments:

Even before completing his doctoral studies, Dr. Chowdhury had co-authored one journal publication, two book chapters, and three working papers. His dissertation project on gender politics in India promises to reshape our understanding of how conservative parties mobilize women in politics in India and beyond. Dr. Chowdhury is entrepreneurial; during his training, he secured significant amounts of research funding, including one of the National Science Foundation's competitive doctoral dissertation research improvement grants, as well as an impressive number of grants from institutions inside and outside the United States.

Selection Process:

Job ad, search committee, appointed by the dean.

<u>Salary Data</u> :	
Proposed base salary:	\$ 66,000
Proposed supplement:	\$ 6,600
Proposed total:	\$ 72,600
Budget impact:	\$ 6,600

School of Law

Enid Trucios-Haynes, JD, Professor (Tenured) of Law; additional appointment as the Bernard Flexner Professor of Law, May 1, 2024 through April 30, 2029.

Notable Accomplishments:

Professor Trucios-Haynes has demonstrated a commitment to research and publication, having published 8 books or book chapters, 6 policy papers, more than 35 amicus briefs, and 29 Law reviews and journal publications. Her record reflects consistent production of citation of work by other scholars and by the courts. Professor Trucios-Haynes is an excellent classroom teacher and well-respected by students for her stimulating and challenging courses. Finally, she is an outstanding colleague, demonstrating leadership and commitment to service within the law school and university, having served in multiple leadership roles, including Co-Founder and Co-Director of the Regulatory Law and Policy Program, Director of the Immigration Law Mini-Clinic, Associate Dean for Academic Affairs, Co-Director and Co-Founder of the Brandeis Human Rights Advocacy Project, Faculty Senate Chair, Director of the Muhammad Ali Institute for Peace and Justice, Co-Director and Founder of the Cooperative Consortium for Transdisciplinary Social Justice Research, among others.

Selection Process:

Internal search; selected by committee and recommended by the dean.

Salary Data:

Current base salary:	\$ 171,083
Total compensation:	\$ 171,083
Proposed base salary:	\$ 171,083
Proposed supplement:	\$ 20,000
Proposed total:	\$ 191,083

Budget impact: \$ 20,000

COMMITTEE ACTION:
Passed X
Did Not Pass
Other
Po
Signature on file
Assistant Secretary

BOARD ACTION:	
Passed <u>X</u>	
Did Not Pass	
Other	
Signature on file	
Assistant Secretary	

RECOMMENDATION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE UNIVERSITY OF LOUISVILLE REGARDING A MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT WITH KENTUCKY KINGDOM

Executive and Compensation Committee - March 21, 2024

RECOMMENDATION:

The President recommends that the Board of Trustees approve a Master Lease Agreement with Kentucky Kingdom Theme Park, LLC, as attached pursuant to the Board's Financial Transactions Policy, Section II(d), regarding lease transactions in excess of \$250,000.00.

COMMITTEE ACTION: Passed	BOARD ACTION: Passed
Did Not Pass	Did Not Pass
Other	Other
Signature on file	Signature on file

Assistant Secretary

_Signature on file Assistant Secretary

MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT

BETTIE JOHNSON HALL

THIS MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT (this "Lease"), effective as of ______, 2024 ("Effective Date"), is entered into by and between the UNIVERSITY OF LOUISVILLE, an institution of higher education of the Commonwealth of Kentucky acting as property manager with leasing authority for Johnson Hall, LLC ("UofL"), and KENTUCKY KINGDOM THEME PARK LLC ("Lessee").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, UofL is the property manager with authority to lease that certain building on UofL's campus known as Bettie Johnson Hall (the "**Project**"); and

WHEREAS, Lessee desires to lease up to 50 units at the Project from UofL (collectively, the "<u>Units</u>"), for the purpose of subleasing bed accommodations within such Units to between 50 and 100 Residents (hereinafter defined) of Lessee, which Units shall all be located in Bettie Johnson Hall of the Project; and

WHEREAS, UofL is willing to lease the Units to Lessee, and Lessee is willing to lease the Units from UofL on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth;

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual agreements and covenants herein set forth and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, UofL and Lessee hereby agree as follows:

1. <u>Lease/Purpose</u>.

(a) UofL hereby leases the Units to Lessee for the Term (as defined below), subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.

The Units may be used by Lessee for the sole and only purpose of (b) subleasing bed accommodations within the Units ("Accommodations") to Residents in accordance with the terms and provisions hereof. Lessee shall not use the Units for any purposes not expressly authorized herein. As used herein, the term "Resident" means a person affiliated with Lessee who has been identified by Lessee to UofL on a room roster as one of the prospective occupants of the Units. Lessee shall provide UofL with a list of all Residents that are to reside in any Unit at least seven (7) days before the Move-In Date for the applicable Summer Term (as defined below), unless otherwise agreed by UofL. On or prior to the date that Lessee submits the list of Residents, Lessee shall deliver to UofL reasonable identifying information on all proposed Residents, and, to the extent allowed by applicable law, copies of all background checks, drug screenings, and any other screening conducted by Lessee or in Lessee's possession as to each of the proposed Residents, and any other information reasonably requested by UofL to enable UofL to properly evaluate each proposed Resident's suitability for residing at the Project. UofL shall have the right in its sole discretion to deny residence at the Project to any proposed Resident that UofL determines is not suitable for residing at UofL's property.

(c) UofL reserves the right to have access to the Project and any of the Units at any time in the event of an emergency and at reasonable hours upon reasonable advance notice to Residents for purposes of conducting inspections (including monthly fire safety inspections), making repairs and taking other actions reasonably required for maintaining the Units and/or operating the Project, and to confirm Lessee's compliance with the terms of this Lease. UofL shall incur no liability for its exercise of the rights under this section. During the Term (as defined below), neither Lessee nor any Resident shall change the locks to any of the Units, or take any other actions to restrict UofL's access to the Project or any of the Units.

2. <u>Term</u>.

(a) The term of this Lease (the "<u>Term</u>") shall be five (5) years commencing on the Move-In Date for the first Summer Term, as those terms are defined below (the "<u>Commencement Date</u>"), and ending on the expiration date of the fifth and final Summer Term (the "<u>Expiration Date</u>"). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Lessee shall only have access to the Units for approximately 75 days each summer from 2024 to 2028 (each period referred to as a "Summer Term", and collectively as the Summer Terms"). The exact dates of the first Summer Term shall be May 15, 2024 through July 29, 2024. The exact dates of subsequent Summer Terms shall be mutually agreed upon in writing by the parties each year during the Term on or before February 1st of the respective year. Lessee shall have no rights to or interest in the Units outside of the Summer Terms, and no Rent shall be due from Lessee to UofL except with respect to the Summer Terms.

(b) Following the expiration of the first Summer Term, each party shall have the right to terminate this Lease on any of the four remaining Lease years by providing written notice to the other party on or before February 15th of the respective year. The termination right granted in this Section 2(b) shall be deemed waived as to the upcoming Summer Term (but not the other Summer Terms) if notice is not timely provided on or before the 15th of February of the respective calendar year. By way of example, if no termination notice is provided on before February 15, 2025, the termination right set forth in this Section 2(b) shall be deemed waived as to the 2025 Summer Term only. In the event that either party terminates this Lease prior to the Expiration Date and pursuant to this section 2(b), neither party shall have any further rights or obligations hereunder except those which expressly survive termination or expiration.

(c) Residents shall only be permitted to reside in the Units or be present at the Project between the first day of each Summer Term (the "Move-In Date") and the last day of each Summer Term (the "Move-Out Date"). Except as may otherwise be agreed by the UofL in writing, Residents may check into the Project between 3:00pm and 6:00pm on the Move-In Date, and Residents shall check out of the Project between 8:00am and 11:00am on the Move-Out Date. In addition to any other charges provided herein, UofL shall charge Lessee an additional amount equal to one (1) day of Rent for any Resident that has not checked out by 3:00pm on the Move-Out Date. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, pursuant to KRS 56.806(6), UofL shall have the right to terminate this Lease at any time upon thirty (30) days' written notice, which time shall be computed from date of mailing notice and the terms of this Lease shall remain in effect until the effectiveness of such terminate this Lease at any time upon thirty (30) days' written notice, which time shall be computed from date of mailing notice and the terms of this Lease shall remain in effect until the effectiveness of such terminate this Lease at any time upon thirty (30) days' written notice, which time shall be computed from date of mailing notice and the terms of this Lease shall remain in effect until the shall be computed from date of mailing notice and the terms of this Lease shall remain to the contrary, use the right to terminate this Lease at any time upon thirty (30) days' written notice, which time shall be computed from date of mailing notice and the terms of this Lease shall remain in effect until the effectiveness of such terminate this Lease at any time upon thirty (30) days' written notice, which time shall be computed from date of mailing notice and the terms of this Lease shall remain

in effect until the effectiveness of such termination. In the event that Lessee terminates this Lease prior to the applicable Move-Out Date and pursuant to this section 2(c), Lessee agrees to pay to UofL a payment of liquidated damages equal to 100% of the Rent (as defined below) due by Lessee over the remainder of the then-current Summer Term. Lessee acknowledges and agrees that such damages are difficult to measure, and such amount represents a reasonable estimate of the damages to be suffered by UofL in the event of Lessee' termination, and not as a penalty. Such liquidated damages shall be in addition to any other damages that may be suffered by UofL as a result of the breach of any terms of this Lease by Lessee.

3. <u>Rental</u>.

(a) As rental for the Units ("<u>**Rent**</u>"), Lessee shall pay to UofL a sum to be calculated based on the chart provided on <u>Exhibit A</u> hereto. UofL shall deliver to Lessee an invoice for each installment of Rent promptly prior to the beginning of each month during each Summer Term. Each installment of Rent shall be paid to UofL within ten (10) days following Lessee's receipt of the monthly invoice and shall be delivered to UofL at the notice address provided in Paragraph 9(a) of this Lease unless other instruction is provided by UofL in writing.

(b) At least seven (7) days prior to the Move-In Date of each Summer Term, Lessee will deliver to UofL a good faith deposit equal to twenty five percent (25%) of the Rent that shall be due to UofL for the first month of the upcoming Summer Term, calculated based on the number of Residents, nights of stay and Unit mix provided by Lessee to UofL pursuant to Section 1(b) above (the "<u>Initial Deposit</u>"). The Initial Deposit will be credited by UofL against the first month of Rent that is payable by Lessee during the applicable Summer Term.

(c) <u>Key Charges</u>. Residents may receive either keys or access cards for access to the building and rooms. No part of the keyset provided to Residents may be altered. Removal of keys from the keyset or loss of the keyset will result in a charge to Lessee of **\$30.00 - \$180** per set. The prices vary based on the building and set of keys. Key charges will be assessed upon checkout as follows:

- (i) Metal keys (\$60.00/each)
- (ii) Keycards (\$45.00)
- (iii) Fobs (\$60.00)

(d) <u>Lockouts</u>. Lessee shall be responsible for additional fees regarding lockout requests as follows:

- (i) The first 3 lockouts are free
- (ii) Lockouts between 8:00am-5:00pm = \$10.00/each
- (iii) Lockouts between 5:00pm-8:00am = \$30.00/each

(e) <u>Rental Spaces</u>. Group spaces may be available for rent within the Project by Residents or Lessee for additional charges as provided below. However, UofL shall have sole

discretion as to whether or not to offer specific group spaces for rent by Lessee or Residents, and UofL may require confirmation of the planned use of the space. Spaces may include study areas, lounges, movie rooms, conference rooms, and computer labs. Meeting space prices vary according to the capacity of the room. Technology equipment may also be available at an additional cost.

- (i) Capacity of 1-20 people = 30.00 per day
- (ii) Capacity of 21-46 people= \$40.00 per day
- (iii) Capacity of more than 46 people= \$50.00 per day
- 4. <u>Resident Agreements</u>.

Lessee shall provide a form of sublease agreement to be signed by each (a) Resident with Lessee related to each Residents stay at the Project for UofL's review prior to any Residents moving into the Units, unless otherwise agreed by UofL. Such sublease agreements (each, a "Sublease" and collectively, the "Subleases") shall incorporate by reference UofL's Housing Policies (as provided at https://louisville.edu/housing/info/policies), rules and requirements as such may be hereinafter amended or revised by UofL, and shall indicate that each Resident acknowledges their understanding of and agreement to abide by UofL's policies, to the extent such policies are applicable to individuals that are not enrolled students at the University of Louisville, and that violation of UofL's policies may result in the removal of the Resident from the Project at the sole discretion of UofL. Each Sublease shall include a requirement that the Residents must vacate the Units in the event of the termination of this Lease or Lessee's rights and privileges under this Lease, or at the sole discretion of UofL, for the Residents to attorn to UofL. The Subleases will be made subject to and subordinate to this Lease. UofL and Lessee agree that the Subleases shall reflect the intended non-permanent nature of the rental of the Accommodations by Residents. The Subleases shall further provide that if at any time during the Term the Resident is no longer employed by Lessee, that such Resident shall lose all rights to reside in any of the Units and the Resident must immediately vacate the Unit and the Project.

(b) Lessee shall have sole and complete responsibility for collecting any rental amounts due by Residents under the Subleases, and UofL shall play no role in the collection of any rental amounts or security deposits pursuant to the Subleases. However, Lessee agrees that it shall not take any action in collecting any amounts due under the Subleases that would be in violation of federal, state or local laws or regulations, or that could be reasonably interpreted to put the UofL in a negative light.

5. <u>Management/Operations/Damages</u>.

(a) Subject to the qualifications provided in this <u>Section 5</u>, UofL shall continue its management and operation duties of the Project at UofL's cost (which shall include, but not be limited to, UofL's typical maintenance, repair, housekeeping, cleaning, and groundskeeping activities at the Project). UofL will make available to the Residents of each of the Project the same amenities that UofL customarily makes available to all other residents of UofL's other student housing projects (to the extent all such amenities are available at the Project).

(b) Lessee agrees that the Subleases shall require Residents to exercise reasonable care in using the premises and its contents. Lessee shall be responsible for any damage caused by Lessee or Residents to the Project or any of the Units that may occur during the Term, reasonable wear and tear excepted. Neither Lessee nor any Resident shall make any alterations or additions to the Project or any of the Units. Lessee agrees to make payment to the University within thirty (30) days of receipt of invoice for damages caused by Lessee or Residents to the Project or any of the Units.

Examples of housekeeping and damage charges are listed below. More charges may be applicable based on <u>circumstances.</u>

Area	Items	Price
Cleaning	Excessive Trash	\$20.00-\$50.00
	Bodily Fluids	\$150.00-\$200.00
	Linens not Returned	\$25.00-\$35.00
Facilities	Furniture removed and not placed back	\$30.00-\$50.00
	Furniture Replacement	Varies based on items
	Paint	Varies based on items

(c) Lessee will notify UofL of any disciplinary or conduct problems involving Residents relating to this Lease or in violation of applicable laws, UofL's Housing Policies, or any other rules or policies of the University of Louisville (to the extent such policies are applicable to individuals that are not enrolled students at the University of Louisville) of which Lessee becomes aware. UofL's contact for purposes of responding to and dealing with residence life, disciplinary and conduct issues is as follows:

> Dr. Thomas W. Hardy Executive Director for University Housing and the Resident Experience University of Louisville Louisville, KY 40292 Telephone: (502) 854-3732

(d) After consultation with the Lessee, UofL may require Lessee's removal of any Resident who does not adhere to the provisions of his or her Sublease, UofL's Housing Policies, any applicable laws, or any other policies, rules or regulations of the University of Louisville to the extent such Housing Policies or other policies, rules, or regulations are applicable to individuals that are not enrolled students at the University of Louisville. Said request for removal shall be in writing to Lessee and shall precisely state the nature of the violation of the terms of his or her Sublease or any applicable rule, guideline or regulation. If the Resident is found to be responsible for any violation which warrants the removal of the Resident from the applicable Unit, he or she will be given a reasonable period of time to vacate the Unit unless he/she is determined by UofL's Office of University Housing to be a safety risk to self, others, or the community, at which time he/she may be removed immediately. Lessee may further notify UofL that it intends to remove any Resident that does not adhere to the provisions of his or her Sublease or that does not adhere to the applicable policies, rules and requirements of Lessee. UofL shall not unreasonably deny the removal of any such Resident so long as such Resident's removal does not violate applicable laws or any policies, rules or regulations of the University of Louisville. In the event that any Resident refuses to comply with a requested removal by UofL or Lessee, Lessee agrees to hold UofL harmless and to indemnify UofL for any and all costs incurred by UofL in attempting to remove any such Resident (provided that such removal actions do not violate applicable laws or any policies, rules or regulations of the University of Louisville) and for the cost of any damages caused by any such Resident. Any Resident that is no longer employed by Lessee at any time during the Term shall be subject to immediate removal from the applicable Unit and the Project at the sole discretion of UofL.

UofL's designee will inspect the Units periodically during the Term of this (e) Lease, including before each Move-In Date to document pre-move-in conditions. UofL's designee will also inspect the Units after the each Move-Out Date to determine any billable damages. Billable damages shall not include reasonable wear and tear. Reasonable wear and tear shall include routine cleaning and repainting only at the end of the applicable Summer Term. Lessee shall owe and pay to UofL an amount equal to (a) the cost of cleaning, repair and/or replacement by UofL of any damage to the Units caused by any Resident or his/her guest or invitee (other than reasonable wear and tear) identified upon the initial inspection of each Unit, and (b) a fee for replacement by UofL of each key or electronic card lost by a Resident as provided above. Within three (3) business days following receipt by UofL of written notice by Lessee of the expiration or termination of each Sublease, UofL's designee shall inspect the applicable Unit and UofL shall notify Lessee in writing within three (3) days of such inspection (a "Cleaning and Damage Notice") of cleaning costs and the amount UofL believes is necessary to repair or restore damages to the Units which are caused by a Resident (reasonable wear and tear excepted). Following cleaning, repair and/or restoration as applicable, UofL shall issue an invoice for the cleaning and repair costs to clean or repair or replace damage identified in the Cleaning and Damage Notice, and Lessee shall, within thirty (30) days after receipt of UofL's invoice for amounts set forth in this Paragraph 5(e), pay the amount set forth in such invoice to UofL.

UofL shall provide the following services and/or utilities to the Units in (f) sufficient quantities during the Summer Terms to the level currently being provided by UofL at the Project: (i) electricity (subject to the terms of this Lease); (ii) high speed internet connection; (iii) water (hot and cold), sanitary sewer, elevator service and trash receptacles; and (iv) general maintenance and repairs, including timely response to Residents' work order requests, as necessary. Any other service or utility not mentioned under this provision (including without limitation telephone service) shall be at the cost of Lessee or the Residents. UofL and Lessee agree that electric costs, regardless of actual usage, are included in the "Rent" payment above, provided, however, Lessee agrees to reasonably cooperate with UofL in limiting the electrical consumption or use by the Residents to an overall aggregate usage which is normal, customary and commercially reasonable and/or assessing and collecting any excessive electrical costs from the Residents responsible for such excessive use. Failure to any extent to furnish, or any stoppage of utility services for reasons not within UofL's control, regardless of cause, shall not render the University liable in any respect for damages to either person or property. Provided that UofL has made and continues to make reasonable and good faith efforts to provide utility services, failure to any extent to furnish, or any stoppage of utility services, for reasons not within UofL's control, regardless of cause, shall not be construed as an actual or constructive eviction of Lessee or any Resident, shall not be construed as a basis for abatement of Rent from Lessee, and shall not be

construed to relieve Lessee from its obligation to fulfill any covenant or agreement under this Lease.

(g) Upon the expiration of each Summer Term, Lessee shall require the Residents to vacate their respective Units in the same condition as at the time of the beginning of their rental, normal wear and tear excepted, and shall surrender such Units and all keycards or similar means of access to UofL at such time.

Resident Conduct. UofL and Lessee each acknowledge and agree that, (h) notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Project is deemed to be "on campus" for the purpose of the University of Louisville's rules and policies. Lessee, therefore, agrees that (i) Lessee's employees, representatives, or agents present on UofL property, and (ii) the Residents, including each of their licensees and invitees, when present at the Project or on any other property of UofL, shall be bound by and comply with all policies, rules and regulations of the University of Louisville, including, but not limited to, The Code of Student Conduct, the Alcohol Policy, the RSO Event Policy, and any other rules and regulations relating to the use of UofL residential facilities as the University of Louisville or its agents may adopt from time-to-time. Lessee covenants, on behalf of itself and each of the Residents and any of their respective licensees and invitees, that it shall not suffer or permit the commission of waste upon the Project, suffer or permit any nuisance or any other act or condition which might disturb the quiet enjoyment of others in and around the Project, act in any way inconsistent with the list of prohibited activities contained in the standards of conduct applicable to University of Louisville students or in any way conduct themselves in a manner reasonably determined to be detrimental to the University of Louisville or its reputation.

(i) <u>Hazardous Materials</u>. Lessee covenants and represents that it will not permit any hazardous or toxic substances to be placed, held, used located, or released in, upon, under or at the Project, or any part thereof, except to the extent that such materials are customary in use in a residential building of the like and kind of the Project and the storage and use of any such materials is in compliance with all environmental laws. Lessee does and shall indemnify and hold UofL harmless from any and all loss, cost, claim, damage and expense, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred by UofL as a result of any hazardous or toxic substances introduced in, upon or under the Project due to the acts or omissions of Lessee or the Residents during the Term of the Lease and which are not due to the acts or omissions of UofL or any of its employees or agents. The indemnity included in this section shall survive the expiration or termination of the Lease.

(j) <u>Infectious Diseases</u>.

(i) Lessee's employees, representatives, or agents present on UofL property, and all Residents are responsible for following all Covid-19 and other infectious disease policies and procedures administered by the University of Louisville, along with governmental regulations, as such policies, procedures and regulations are in effect from time to time. Procedures are subject to change depending on the decisions of the government, public health guidance, and the University leadership. Lessee will be promptly notified of any such changes and will be held responsible for any noncompliance. In addition, Lessee's employees, representatives, or agents present on UofL property and

all Residents should be aware of and must follow the guidance from the University found at: <u>https://louisville.edu/coronavirus/</u>.

(ii) Prior to the applicable Move-In Date, each Resident must complete the campus health consent process designated by UofL. The information will be kept confidential and is necessary for emergency planning. Residents who test positive or are exposed to Covid-19 while on campus must contact University Housing immediately. University Housing will make necessary measures to accommodate those who test positive or are exposed to Covid-19. Neither Lessee nor any Resident shall be provided with a refund of Rent or any other payments due under this Lease in connection with any removals resulting from Covid-19 positive tests or exposures.

(k) <u>Bedbug Treatment</u>. Lessee consents to the bed bug treatment procedures established by University Housing should the need arise. Such procedures are available at <u>https://louisville.edu/housing/policies/procedures/bedbugs</u>.

(1) <u>Parking</u>. Parking passes are available upon request. All clients should specify the length and amount of parking passes associated with each request. Prices are subject to change based on the operations of the Parking Office.

6. <u>Default/Remedies</u>.

(a) Any one of the following events is an "<u>Event of Default</u>" by Lessee under this Lease:

(i) Lessee's failure to pay any sum required to be paid to UofL under this Lease and such failure is not cured within fifteen (15) business days after Lessee's receipt of written notice from UofL of such failure.

(ii) Lessee's failure to materially perform any other covenant or agreement, other than the payment of money, to be performed by Lessee under this Lease, and such failure is not cured within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice from UofL of such failure; provided, however, that if the nature of Lessee's failure is such that more than thirty (30) days are reasonably required for its cure, then Lessee shall not be deemed to be in default if Lessee shall commence such cure within said thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently prosecute such cure to completion.

(iii) Any representation or warranty of Lessee hereunder shall be untrue or incorrect in any material respect.

(iv) Lessee or any Resident selling or knowingly possessing "drugs" or "narcotics" as these terms are used in Kentucky statutes, except where lawfully prescribed for medical or dental care.

(v) The possession of firearms, weapons, ammunition, fireworks, or explosives in the Project, or any other violation of the University of Louisville Weapons Policy. The only exception is if the guest is required by law to carry a firearm. Proof of requirement may be requested at any time. (vi) Misuse, abuse, theft, or destruction of residence hall property.

(vii) General behavior in the Project indicating Residents are not able to adjust to the requirements of group living.

(viii) Irresponsible behavior dangerous to persons or property or that violates any federal, state or local law or ordinance, or University rules and policies.

(ix) The possession or consumption of alcohol by any Residents under 21 years of age. Residents who are 21 years of age or older may possess alcohol in the residence halls as consistent with the University's alcohol policy. Alcohol must remain in the Resident's Unit and is not permitted in common spaces.

(x) Smoking in the Project or within 25 feet of the residence halls, including vaporizers.

(xi) Bringing any animals into the Project, other than those that are documented and approved in advance by the University, including emotional support and service animals.

(b) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, UofL may, at its option, declare this Lease and all rights and interests created by it to be terminated, may seek any and all damages occasioned by the Event of Default, or may seek any other remedies available at law or in equity. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, UofL may in its sole discretion, in addition to any other remedies available to UofL, with or without terminating this Lease, succeed to, have and hold all right, title and interest of Lessee under the Subleases and notify the Residents pursuant to the Subleases that this Lease has been terminated and that UofL has succeeded to Lessee's legal interests under the Subleases during the remainder of the term of the Subleases.

(c) Any provisions of this Lease, which pursuant to the terms of this Lease extend beyond termination or expiration of this Lease, shall survive such termination or expiration.

(d) In the event of (i) UofL's failure to pay any sum required to be paid by UofL to Lessee under this Lease which is not cured within fifteen (15) business days after UofL's receipt of written notice from Lessee of such failure, or (ii) any other material default by UofL hereunder which is not cured within thirty (30) days after UofL's receipt of written notice thereof from Lessee (provided, however, that if the nature of UofL's failure is such that more than thirty (30) days are reasonably required for its cure, then UofL shall not be deemed to be in default if UofL shall commence such cure within said thirty- (30) day period and thereafter diligently prosecute such cure to completion), Lessee may, at its option, either (a) terminate this Lease by written notice thereof to UofL, in which event UofL shall promptly refund to Lessee any prepaid Rent applicable to remaining periods of time following such termination, or (b) seek specific performance of UofL's obligations hereunder.

(e) UofL's failure to materially perform any covenant or agreement to be performed by UofL under this Lease, and such failure is not cured within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice from Lessee of such failure shall be a default under this Lease; provided,

however, that if the nature of UofL's failure is such that more than thirty (30) days are reasonably required for its cure, then UofL shall not be deemed to be in default if UofL shall commence such cure within said thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently prosecute such cure to completion. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of a default of UofL under this Lease, Lessee may, at its option, declare this Lease and all rights and interests created by it to be terminated, may seek any and all damages occasioned by the default as may be permitted by law, or may seek any other remedies available at law or in equity.

7. <u>Indemnification/Insurance</u>.

(a) Lessee agrees to hold harmless, defend and indemnify UofL against third party claims, losses and damages caused by the negligent, willfully wrongful, and/or reckless actions or inactions of Lessee and/or its affiliates or their respective employees or agents or any of the Residents in connection with use of the Project as contemplated herein. Lessee further agrees to hold harmless, defend and indemnify UofL against any claims of any third party arising from any loss, damages, illness, injury or death arising from the negligence or willful misconduct of Lessee or any Resident. To the extent permitted by the law of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, UofL agrees to hold harmless, defend and indemnify Lessee against third party claims, losses and damages caused by the negligent, willfully wrongful, and/or reckless actions or inactions of UofL and/or its affiliates or their respective employees or agents in connection with use of the Project and provision of services as contemplated herein. The foregoing indemnities shall survive any termination or expiration of this Lease.

(b) Any personal property at the Project belonging to Lessee or any of its Residents, or any of their invitees or licensees, shall be kept at the risk of Lessee or the Residents, as applicable. UofL shall not be liable at any time for any damage to such personal property for any reason whatsoever except due to the negligence or willful misconduct of UofL or its employees or agents.

(c) Each party agrees that it shall give the other prompt notice of any claim, threatened or made, or suit instituted against it that could result in a claim for indemnification above. Both parties agree that in the event that indemnification is sought under this provision, the party seeking indemnification will furnish the indemnifying party, upon request, all information and assistance for defense against any such claim, suit, or demand. The obligations of the parties pursuant to this provision shall survive the termination, expiration or rescission of this Lease.

(d) The Lessee shall be responsible for procuring and continuously maintaining the insurance set forth below.

MINIMUM COVERAGE AMOUNT

Type of Insurance	Minimum Limits of Liability
General Liability*	\$1,000,000.00 Each Occurrence
Including: Completed Products	\$2,000,000.00 General Aggregate
Personal and Advertising Injury	
Products/Completed	
Operations	
Sexual Abuse & Molestation	
(limited to \$1MM)	
Auto Liability*	\$1,000,000 Combined Single Limit (Bodily Injury,
(all owned, hired and non-	Property Damage)
owned vehicles)	
Workers' Compensation	Statutory Limits – Kentucky and the state(s) of
	domicile of University's contractor and any
	subcontractor(s). The all state and voluntary
	compensation endorsement is to be attached to the
	policy.
Employers Liability	\$1,000,000 (each employee, each accident and policy
	limit)

*Occurrence coverage is required. Claims-made coverage is not acceptable.

These policies (except Workers' Compensation) shall name UofL, its trustees, officers, employees and agents as Additional Insured limited to the Term and only for occurrences resulting from the negligent acts of Lessee.

Certificates of the above policies shall be furnished to UofL prior to the Commencement Date.

If Lessee' policy has deductibles, self-insured retentions or co-insurance penalties, then all such costs shall be solely borne by Lessee and not by UofL. UofL will not share in any policy deductibles.

It is hereby agreed that in event of a claim arising under this policy, the company will not deny liability by reason of the Additional Insured being a state, county, municipal corporation or governmental agency.

The limits listed above may be accomplished through a combination of primary and excess/umbrella liability policies written on a "follow form" basis or forms no more restrictive than the primary policies.

8. <u>Representations and Covenants</u>. Lessee hereby represents and covenants to UofL as follows: (i) Lessee has received (or will receive before the Term commences) any and all governmental or quasi-governmental approvals and/or consents necessary or required for Lessee to enter into this Lease; (ii) this Lease is binding upon and enforceable against Lessee in accordance with its terms, and (iii) that the person signing the Lease on behalf of Lessee has been duly and properly authorized to do so. UofL hereby represents and covenants to Lessee that this

Lease is binding upon and enforceable against UofL in accordance with its term, and that the person signing this Lease on behalf of UofL has been duly and properly authorized to do so.

9. <u>Miscellaneous</u>.

(a) <u>Notices</u>. Any notices, consents or other communications required or permitted to be given pursuant to this Lease must be in writing and must be given by a reputable nationally recognized overnight courier, hand delivery or email or facsimile transmission and shall be deemed to have been given and received (whether actually received or not) upon deposit in the U.S. mail, return receipt requested, when properly addressed with delivery charges prepaid; or when received, if delivered by hand delivery, or upon machine generated verification of successful transmission when sent via email or facsimile; or upon deposit with a reputable nationally recognized overnight courier service, with services prepaid for overnight delivery, addressed to the parties hereto at the following respective addresses:

If to Lessee:	Kentucky Kingdom Theme Park LLC 937 Phillips Lane Louisville, KY 40209
	Attn: Ed Monheimer, Director of Human Resources Email: <u>emonheimer@kentuckykingdom.com</u> Phone: (502) 813-8213
	A copy of all notices sent to Lessee shall also be sent to Lessee's attorney at the address provided below:
	Herschend Enterprises Attn: Steve Earnest, Esq. 5445 Triangle Parkway, Suite 200 Peachtree Corners, GA 30092
	Provided that, beginning on May 1, 2023, such copies shall be sent to:
	Herschend Enterprises Attn: Steve Earnest, Esq. 157 Technology Parkway, Suite 100 Peachtree Corners, GA 30092
If to UofL:	University of Louisville Campus Housing Attention: Dr. Thomas W. Hardy, Executive Director for University Housing and the Resident Experience Louisville, KY 40292 Facsimile: 502-854-5427
	University of Louisville Attn: Lease Administration 421 W. Cardinal Blvd

or to such other substitute address and/or addressee as any party hereto shall designate by written notice to the other party in accordance with the terms of this <u>Paragraph 9(a)</u>; provided, however, that no such notice of change of address and/or addressee shall be effective unless and until actually received by the party to whom such notice is sent. Any notice to be given by any party hereto may be given by legal counsel for such party. Counsel for the parties may give simultaneous notice hereunder to the opposing party and its counsel.

Louisville, KY 40208

(b) <u>Entire Agreement; Modifications; Non-Merger with Ground Lease</u>. This Lease embodies and constitutes the final entire understanding between the parties with respect to the transactions contemplated herein, and all prior or contemporaneous agreements,

understandings, representations and statements (oral or written), are merged and incorporated into this Lease. Neither this Lease nor any provision hereof may be waived, modified, amended, discharged or terminated except by an instrument in writing signed by the party against whom the enforcement of such waiver, modification, amendment, discharge or termination is sought, and then only to the extent set forth in such instrument.

(c) <u>Applicable Law</u>. THIS LEASE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY. The parties agree that the exclusive forum for any dispute concerning this Lease shall be the Franklin County Circuit Court.

(d) <u>Captions</u>. The captions in this Lease are inserted for convenience of reference only and in no way define, describe, or limit the scope or intent of this Lease or any of the provisions hereof.

(e) <u>Binding Effect</u>. This Lease shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and permitted assigns.

(f) <u>Casualty/Condemnation</u>. If the Project is materially damaged by fire or other casualty, or taken by condemnation (or threatened to be so taken) or otherwise rendered uninhabitable, either party may terminate this Lease within sixty (60) days after the occurrence of such casualty or condemnation by giving the other party written notice of such termination.

(i) If this Lease is terminated by Lessee or UofL following any such material casualty or condemnation, then UofL will refund to Lessee on a pro rata basis any prepaid Rent applicable to remaining periods of time following such termination.

(ii) If following any such casualty or condemnation neither party elects to terminate this Lease as permitted above, then UofL will, within a reasonable time, repair or restore any damage to the Project. During such repair or restoration, if the Units are habitable, there shall be a reasonable reduction of the Rent for any unusable portion of the Units. If the Units are uninhabitable, and neither party elects to terminate this Lease as permitted above, UofL will provide at its own cost a suitable and reasonably comparable living accommodation for the displaced Residents until the repair or restoration is completed, if such accommodation is available; provided that with respect to such Units there shall be no reduction in Rent.

(g) <u>Dates</u>. If the final date of any period set forth herein falls on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday under the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky or the United States of America, the final date of such period shall be extended to the next day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday. The term "**days**" as used herein shall mean calendar days, with the exception of "**business days**," which term shall mean each day except for any Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday under the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky or United States of America.

(h) <u>Attorneys' Fees</u>. If either party shall employ an attorney to enforce or define the rights of such party hereunder, the prevailing party in any suit or proceeding shall be

entitled to recover reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of suit if awarded by a court selected in accordance with Paragraph 9(c).

(i) <u>Partial Invalidity</u>. If any term, provision, condition or covenant of this Lease or the application thereof to any party or circumstance shall, to any extent, be held invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease, or the application of such term, provision, condition or covenant to persons or circumstances other than those as to whom or which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each term and provision of this Lease shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law, and said invalid or unenforceable term, provision, condition or covenant shall be substituted by a term, provision, condition or covenant as near in substance as may be valid and enforceable.

(j) <u>Counterparts</u>. This Lease may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument. A photocopy of this Lease, as signed by a party, which is transmitted either by email message in portable document format or by facsimile, shall be deemed to be a counterpart original copy of this Lease executed by such party, and shall be binding on such party when transmitted by email message or facsimile to the other party.

(k) <u>Assignment</u>. Lessee shall not assign this Lease or any legal interest hereunder, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of UofL, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

(1) <u>Nondiscrimination</u>. The parties agree to comply with all applicable state and federal laws, rules, regulations and executive orders governing equal employment opportunity, immigration, and nondiscrimination, including the Americans with Disabilities Act. The Lessee represents and warrants that it will not discriminate on the basis of race, creed, national origin, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, marital status, pregnancy, disability, veteran status, or any other status protected by applicable law or the policies of the University of Louisville in selecting Residents or assigning Units or in engaging in any of the activities under this Lease.

(m) <u>Intellectual Property Rights</u>. Neither UofL nor Lessee may use the intellectual property of the other party (including, but not limited to, logos, trademarks, and trade names) without the express prior written consent of such other party.

(n) <u>Conflict of Interest</u>. If any of the officers or principals of Lessee are related to a University of Louisville employee, that relationship must be disclosed in writing prior to the execution of this Agreement. For purposes of disclosure of this section, a person is a related person if related to a University employee in any of the following ways, and includes those within these categories who are referred to as adopted, step-, foster, grand-, half-, in-law, spouse of, or great-: parent, child or ward, sibling, uncle or aunt, first cousin, nephew or niece, spouse, domestic partner, significant other.

(o) <u>Kentucky Campaign Laws</u>. By signing this Lease, Lessee certifies to the best of Lessee's actual knowledge, that, as of the Effective Date, neither it nor any member of it holds an interest of 10% or more in any business entity involved in the performance of this Lease that has contributed more than the amount specified in KRS 121.056(2) of the campaign of the

gubernatorial candidate elected at the election last preceding the Effective Date. Lessee certifies to the best of Lessee's actual knowledge, that Lessee has not knowingly violated any provisions of the campaign finance laws of the Commonwealth, and that the award of this Lease to the Lessee will not, to the best of Lessee's actual knowledge, violate any provisions of the campaign finance laws of the Commonwealth.

(p) <u>Compliance</u>. Lessee and UofL each agrees to comply in all material respects with all Applicable Laws, and each further agrees to promptly report to the other any citation or notice of non-compliance with respect to any such Applicable Laws. As used herein, "<u>Applicable Laws</u>" means applicable local, state or federal laws, statutes, codes, ordinances, rules, regulatory notices and any notices and orders of any and all governmental or quasi-governmental or regulatory authorities and other authorities and agencies having jurisdiction over UofL, Lessee and the leased/subleased premises, as applicable, which are in effect from time to time.

(q) <u>Anti-Kick Back</u>. UofL shall comply in all material respects with the Copeland Anti-Kick Back" act (18 USC 874), as supplemented in the Department of Labor Regulations (29 CFR, Part 3). The foregoing Anti-Kick Back Act provides that each bidder, subcontractor or subgrantee is prohibited from inducing, by any means, any person employed in the construction, completion or repair of any public work to give up any part of the compensation to which such person is otherwise entitled.

(r) <u>Federal Debarment</u>. Lessee's signature on this Lease certifies, to the best of Lessee's actual knowledge, that, as of the Effective Date, Lessee is not debarred from doing business with federal agencies and that, if debarred during the Lease Term, Lessee will notify UofL within seventy-two (72) hours of the federal debarment.

(s) <u>Independent Contractors</u>. The relationship between the parties to this Lease to each other is that of independent contractors. The relationship of the parties to this Lease to each other shall not be construed to constitute a partnership, joint venture or any other relationship, other than that of independent contractors.

(t) Force Majeure.

(i) Neither party hereto be liable or responsible to the other for any delay or failure hereunder, including, without limitation, a failure by UofL to make the Units and utilities available, if such delays or failures are the result of any happenings or events which are not reasonably within the party's control, including without limitation, acts of nature, fire, flood, natural disaster, health and/or safety emergency, epidemic, loss of electricity or power, riots, war, or terrorist attack (or threat thereof) (each, a "<u>Force</u> <u>Majeure Event</u>").

(ii) If, due to a Force Majeure Event, or due to government restrictions or regulations enacted in response to a Force Majeure Event, Lessee is required to cease or significantly restrict its standard operations, or such restrictions or regulations materially negatively impact Lessee's business operations, and as a result Lessee has no need to Lease the Units, Lessee may terminate this Lease upon fourteen (14) days' written notice to UofL. UofL and Lessee each agree that upon the effectiveness of any such termination, neither party shall have any further responsibility or liability under this Lease (except as otherwise provided herein), Lessee shall have no further responsibility to pay the Rent, and UofL shall have no further responsibility to make any of the Units available to the Lessee.

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused their respective duly authorized representatives to execute this MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT on their behalf as of the dates listed below, but which Lease shall be effective as of the Effective Date set forth on Page 1 hereof.

UOFL:

UNIVERSITY OF LOUISVILLE

By:	

Name:	Meg Campbell
Title:	Assistant Vice President of Planning, Design,
	and Construction
Date:	

Recommended By:_____

Name:	Dr. Thomas W. Hardy			
Title:	Executive Director for University Housing			
	and the Resident Experience			
Date:				

LESSEE:

KENTUCKY KINGDOM THEME PARK LLC

By: _____

Name:	
Title:	
Date:	

EXHIBIT A

MONTHLY RENT CALCULATION

First Summer Term

Example: 1st Payment: 5/15/2024-5/31/2024=\$111,251.24 2nd Payment: 6/1/2024-6/30/2024=\$111,251.24 3rd Payment: 7/1/2024-7/29/2024=\$111,251.24

Unit Type	#	Cost	Nights	Total
A/2X1	20	\$41	75	\$61,500.00
A/2X2	43	\$45	75	\$145,125.00
A/3X2	6	\$41	75	\$18,450.00
A/4X2	31	\$38	75	\$88,350.00
	100			
	\$313,425.00			
	#	Cost		Total
Cleaning Charge 2X1	10	\$30.00	1	\$300.00
Cleaning Charge 2X2	22	\$30.00	1	\$660.00
Cleaning Charge 3X2	2	\$38.50	1	\$77.00
Cleaning Charge 4X2	8	\$50.00	1	\$400.00
Excessive Cleaning	0	\$0	0	\$0.00
Early Arrival	0	\$0	0	\$0.00
	\$314,862.00			
6	\$18,891.72			
	\$333,753.72			

\$333,753.72/3 months (May-July)=\$111,251.24 monthly

Total monthly Rent payable by Lessee is calculated by multiplying the number of each listed Unit type that is reserved by the cost of such Unit type, and multiplied by the number of nights each

such Unit type is reserved, and adding the sum of the total cost for each Unit type. The total cost will be divided by 3 months (May-July) that the conference group is expecting to utilize the space.

Subsequent Summer Terms

The Rental rate payable for each subsequent Summer Term following the first Summer Term will increase by a rate of 5% annually plus cleaning costs.